FILED
05-10-2022
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent

v. Appeal No. 2021AP000142 CR Circuit Court Case No. 2018CF000510

CHARLES W. RICHEY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On petition for review of a court of appeals decision affirming a Judgment entered in the Circuit Court for Marathon County, the Honorable Gregory J. Strasser, Circuit Judge, presiding.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER'S BRIEF

ZICK LEGAL LLC Vicki Zick State Bar No. 1033516

475 Hartwig Boulevard PO Box 325 Johnson Creek, WI 53038 920-699-9900

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether, at the time of the stop, Officer Meier had reasonable suspicion that Richey's motorcycle may have been the one that committed a traffic violation.

Answered by the trial court: Yes.

Answered by the court of appeals: Yes.

2. Whether the court of appeals failed to consider factually similar cases when it decided Richey's case.

Not answered.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Because oral argument would give the Court the opportunity to pose any questions not answered by the parties' briefs, oral argument is recommended.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Because this case asks the Court to clarify the standard the courts should use when making reasonable suspicion determinations, publication is recommended.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of Facts

On April 28, 2018, Everest Metro Police Department Officer Alexis Meier was on routine patrol in the Village of Weston. (R76:5-6). Around 11:00 p.m., a deputy from the Marathon County Sheriff's Office broadcast over the radio that he had stopped to assist a disabled motorcycle near Business 51 and Schofield Avenue in the village. (R76:5).

Shortly thereafter the deputy announced he had cleared that scene, but then announced that any other officers in the area should be on the lookout for a Harley-Davidson motorcycle driving erratically and at a high rate of speed, traveling northbound on Alderson Street. (R76:5).

Officer Meier was in the general vicinity of Alderson Street. (R76:6). About five minutes after hearing the deputy's call, Meier spotted a Harley-Davidson motorcycle traveling eastbound on Schofield, just west of Alderson Street. (R76:7, 12). Although it was not being driven fast or erratically, she followed it for two-and-a-half blocks before activating her lights to make a traffic stop. (R76:26). At no time had she observed the motorcycle commit any traffic violations. (R76:23-24). According to Meier, she stopped the motorcycle based solely on the deputy's broadcast that she should be on the lookout for a Harley-Davidson in that general area. (R76:12-13).

As luck would have it, the motorcycle Officer Meier had pulled over was not the motorcycle the deputy had witnessed driving erratically. (R76:14). However, unfortunately for the driver of the motorcycle, Charles Richey, this mistake was not very consoling. Because Richey had shown signs of intoxication Officer Meier placed him under arrest for Operating While Intoxicated. (R2).

Procedure in the Trial Court

The State charged Richey with Operating While Intoxicated as an eighth offense contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1) and 939.50(3)(f). (R2). He filed a motion to suppress all OWI evidence law enforcement had gathered after the initial traffic stop on grounds that Meier did not have reasonable suspicion to pull him over. (R16). The circuit

court denied the motion reasoning that Meier had sufficient grounds. (R76:46-47). Thereafter, Richey pled no contest to the OWI, the court accepted his plea, and found him guilty of an OWI 8th. (R79). The court sentenced him to nine years of imprisonment, bifurcated four and five. (R79). Richey timely filed his Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief and shortly thereafter filed his Notice of Appeal. (R55; R66).

Procedure in the Court of Appeals

The sole issue Mr. Richey presented on appeal was that, at the time of the stop, Officer Meier did not have reasonable suspicion to suspect that he had been driving his motorcycle erratically or at excessive speeds. To the contrary, at best Meier had nothing more than a generalized hunch he could be the mysterious motorcycle described by the deputy. Meier's hunch was based on little more than the fact that Richey happened to be driving a Harley-Davidson in the general area of Alderson Street shortly after the deputy sent out his alert. Under the circumstances, Richey reasoned, this was not enough to form reasonable suspicion.

The court of appeals affirmed the trial court's decision denying Richey's motion to suppress. According to the court of appeals, Meier's observation of a Harley-Davidson within five minutes of the deputy's alert, and within a half-mile from where the deputy first saw it, together with Meier's observations that there were few motorcycles out that early in the spring and that late at night, was enough to create reasonable suspicion. *State v. Richey*, No. 2021AP142, unpublished slip op., ¶7 (WI App Feb. 15, 2022).

Still believing that the totality of the circumstances known to Officer Meier did not give her reasonable suspicion, and further believing that the court of appeals performed an

incomplete "reasonable suspicion" analysis, Richey petitioned this Court to review his case.

ARGUMENT

I. At the time of the stop, Officer Meier did not have reasonable suspicion that Richey's motorcycle was the one the deputy reported; at best Meier had an inchoate hunch.

A traffic stop does not violate the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures when an officer has reasonable suspicion to believe a crime or traffic violation has been or will be committed by the vehicle's occupants. State v. Houghton, 2015 WI 79, ¶21, 364 Wis.2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143. This standard requires that the stop be based on more than an officer's inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶10, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. Rather, an officer's reasonable suspicion must be supported by articulable facts that wrongful activity may be afoot. United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989). The crucial question is whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶13.

Whether an officer's suspicion is reasonable is a commonsense test that turns on the totality of the facts and circumstances. *Id.* In assessing the totality of the circumstances for a traffic stop, a driver's actions need not be erratic, unsafe, or illegal to give rise to reasonable suspicion. *Id.* ¶24. But police cannot simply pull over all vehicles on a certain road in hopes of finding violators. *United States v.* Bohman, 683 F.3d 861, 866 (7th Cir. 2012). Rather, an officer

Filed 05-10-2022

must have particular suspicion about the vehicle actually stopped. *Id.* at 865.

Officer Meier testified at the suppression hearing. When asked directly why she had stopped Richey she explained that, based on what the deputy had broadcast, she knew she should be on the lookout for a Harley-Davidson motorcycle heading north on Alderson Street. (R76:9-10, 12-13). She stated that she had not seen any other Harley-Davidsons that night until she had spotted Richey's Harley traveling east on Schofield Avenue. (R76:7). Richey's location was within a half mile of where the deputy said he had first spotted the mystery motorcycle heading north. (R76:7).

But this was all Meier knew. She did not know the model of the Harley-Davidson, its color, its license plate number, or if it was old or new. She did not know whether it carried one passenger or two, whether the driver was male or female, or whether he or she was wearing a helmet. For all intents and purposes, it could be said that all she really knew was that she was looking for a Harley-Davidson motorcycle in the general area of Alderson Street.

At the hearing, Richey argued that these facts were insufficient to form reasonable suspicion. (R76:38). For starters, he said, Meier assumed the mystery motorcycle had fled the deputy at a high rate of speed. (R76:29). Yet, she admitted that she had followed Richey for two-and-a-half blocks in a marked squad without Richey even so much as going over the speed limit. (R76:30). In other words, Richey made no attempt to flee Meier.

Moreover, while the deputy had broadcast that the mystery motorcycle was traveling north on Alderson, Richey was traveling southeast on Schofield back in the direction

where the deputy had first spotted the Harley. (R76:7). These facts, he said, militated against any reasonable belief that Richey and the mystery motorcycle were one and the same. (37).

The trial court disagreed. In the court's mind, Richey was traveling in the general area where Meier was supposed be looking. (R76:46). He appeared within minutes after the deputy broadcast the alert. (R76:46). He was not just riding a motorcycle, but specifically a Harley-Davidson, which was the brand of motorcycle the deputy had told the other officers to look for. (R76:46). In the words of the court, these were all building blocks that formed reasonable suspicion. (R76:46). Furthermore, said the court, Richey's motorcycle was a rare sight late at night when not many motorcycles were out and about. (R76:46).

Richey submits, however, that the totality of these circumstances does not give rise to reasonable suspicion that Richey was the driver of the mysterious motorcycle. Officer Meier had no particular or articulable reason to believe Richey's Harley and the mysterious Harley were one and the same. At best she had a hunch. Meier needed something extra to move her justification for the stop from a hunch to at least minimal suspicion. *Bohman*, 683 F.3d at 864. And in this instance, she had nothing more than she should be on the lookout for a Harley-Davidson in the vicinity of Alderson Street.

Now, the circuit court also found some significance in the fact that, at this time of year – April 28th – it was a little early for motorcycle season. (R76:45). In the trial court's mind, it was unlikely that a significant number of motorcycles would be buzzing about the tiny Village of Weston so early in the season, especially at 11:00 at night. (R76:45-46). This fact,

said the court would add an additional building block to Meier's suspicion, such that when she spotted Richey riding his motorcycle it might be unusual for an innocent and unrelated motorcycle to be in the vicinity. (R76:45-46). The court of appeals likewise found this to be a significant fact, going so far as to say that at this time of day and time of year, motorcycle sightings were rare in Weston. *State v. Richey*, No. 2021AP142, unpublished slip op., ¶9 (WI App Feb. 15, 2022).

But Meier never said the time of night and time of year were factors she relied on. After the prosecutor prompted her on these two factors, she did say also due to, as you had stated, time of year and time of night were among the things she considered. (R76:12-13). But before being prompted she never mentioned time of year and time of night.

Meier testified that on the night in question traffic was very light in Weston. (R76:6). Despite very light traffic, police spotted at least two, if not three, motorcycles in the suspect area within a time span of about five minutes. There was the disabled motorcycle the deputy stopped to assist. There was the fleeing motorcycle that the deputy alerted Meier about. And there was Richey's motorcycle. Whether the disabled motorcycle and the fleeing motorcycle were one in the same is unclear as Officer Meier only assumed they might be the same. (R76:29-30). Whether they were was never established.

Nevertheless, Richey's point is that Officer Meier seeing Richey in the search area may not have been a significant fact in the quantum of evidence at all, given that quite possibly police had spotted three motorcycles within a half mile of each other in a span of five minutes. If motorcycles were common in Weston in April 2018 rather than rare, then this fact adds nothing to Meier's reasonable suspicion about Richey. In other words, if motorcycles were common, it

would make it even less likely that Richey's motorcycle and the fleeing motorcycle were the same.

The fact that Richey was present in the suspect area is not enough to impute suspicion onto him. *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 124, 120 S.Ct. 673, 145 L.Ed.2d 570 (2000) (An individual's presence in an area of suspected criminal activity, standing alone, is not enough to support a reasonable, particularized suspicion that the person is committing a crime.). A mere suspicion of illegal activity at a particular place is not enough to transfer that suspicion to anyone who leaves that place. Bohman, 683 F.3d at 865. And a police officer's bare hope of finding a suspect at a particular location does not constitute a particularized and objective basis for seizing a vehicle. *United* States v. Hudson, 405 F.3d 425, 438 (6th Cir. 2005).

In the *Bohman* case, Sgt. Brian Kingsley, acting on a tip, suspected that methamphetamines were being produced in a cabin located in Marathon County. Bohman, 683 F.3d at 862-63. According to the tip, the driveway would be protected by a cable, there would be an anhydrous ammonia tank there, and the "cook" would be driving a green Mercury Grand Marquis. *Id.* at 863. At 11:00 p.m., Kingsley drove to the cabin site to look around. *Id.* He saw the cabin and the cable just as the tipster had promised. *Id.* So, Kingsley parked his vehicle, but while preparing his surveillance gear he inadvertently honked his horn. *Id.* This caused a vehicle to drive down the cabin driveway, stop at the gate, then go back up to the cabin. Id. Five minutes later another vehicle drove down the driveway, but this time the driver unlocked the gate and drove out into the road. *Id.*

Kingsley immediately activated his lights and the vehicle, a Chevrolet, pulled over. *Id.* When Kingsley approached it, he recognized the driver as Bohman. *Id.* The

passenger turned out to be the "cook" that the tipster had squealed on. *Id.*

Like Richey, Bohman moved to suppress the methamphetamine evidence collected in a subsequent search of the cabin, on grounds that Kingsley did not have reasonable suspicion to pull him over. *Id.* at 862. While the district court found it to be a close call, it nonetheless denied Bohman's suppression motion. *Id.* at 864. It found that the tipster's corroborated information along with the suspicious behavior in response to the horn honk moved Kingsley's suspicion from a hunch to at least minimal suspicion. *Id.*

The Seventh Circuit, however, disagreed. Kingsley had no particularized suspicion about Bowman's Chevrolet. *Id.* at 865. Basically, he stopped the Chevrolet because it emerged from a suspected methamphetamine cook site. *Id.* at 865. It found Bohman's case to be indistinguishable from *United States v. Johnson*, 170 F.3d 708 (7th Cir. 1999), where police officers stopped the first person who emerged from an apartment building suspected of hosting criminal activity. Id. Like in *Johnson*, Kingsley simply stopped a car he knew nothing about other than its emergence from a suspected meth cook site. Id. at 866 n.1.

Richey's case is factually similar to *Bohman* and *Johnson*. That is, Meier had no particularized suspicion about Richey's Harley. It just happened to be the first motorcycle Meier saw in the search area.

In 2019, our court of appeals had the opportunity to review similar facts in the *Adams* case. In *Adams*, a Forest County deputy made a traffic stop and during the stop one individual took off on foot. State v. Adams, No. 1018AP174, unpublished slip op., ¶2 (WI App Jan. 15, 2019). The deputy making the stop broadcast to Deputy William Hujet to be on the lookout for the fleeing individual. *Id.* Hujet immediately began searching the area where the individual had fled, and about thirty minutes later Hujet encountered defendant Adams driving within one mile or so where the suspect had fled. *Id.* ¶3. In his mind, Hujet surmised that the fleeing individual had called Adams on his cell phone to come pick him up. *Id.* ¶4.

Hujet continued to watch Adams who somewhat suspiciously drove down a dead-end road, backed up, and returned to where he had started. *Id.* ¶3. When Adams turned onto another road which led back to the area of the original stop, Hujet effectuated his traffic stop of Adams. *Id.* ¶3. Upon making contact, Hujet detected intoxicants and subsequently arrested Adams for OWI. *Id.* ¶5.

In the trial court, Adams also unsuccessfully moved to suppress on grounds that Hujet did not have reasonable suspicion to stop him, as he had committed no crimes or traffic violations in Hujet's presence. *Id.* ¶11. Adams renewed his claim on appeal and in this instance the court of appeals agreed with Adams. *Id.* ¶15.

Based on the circumstances presented the court of appeals reasoned that Hujet had stopped Adams simply because he was driving within the search area. *Id.* ¶15. Otherwise, Hujet had no knowledge of any connection between the fleeing suspect and Adams. *Id.* Without some articulable fact that connected Adams to the fleeing suspect, the traffic stop was impermissible. *Id.* ¶12.

This is the situation that Richey presents for review. Officer Meier did not have that "something extra" that would have moved her justification for the stop from a hunch to at

least minimal suspicion. At best, she stopped Richey because he was the first Harley-Davidson she spotted in the search area.

In summary, based on the evidence offered by Officer Meier, she stopped Richey because he was riding a Harley-Davidson motorcycle in the vicinity of Alderson Street and for no other reason. However, the law says an individual's presence in an area of criminal activity is not enough to support reasonable suspicion. Wardlow, 528 U.S. at 124. More is needed and, in this instance, Officer Meier did not have more. The circuit court should have granted Richey's motion to suppress.

II. The court of appeals inappropriately failed to consider factually similar cases when it reviewed Richey's case.

Many years ago, in *Ornelas v. U.S.*, the United States Supreme Court set forth the methodology that appellate courts should use when determining whether a law enforcement officer had "reasonable suspicion" to stop and detain a citizen. *Ornelas v. U.S.*, 517 U.S. 690, 116 S.Ct. 1657, 134 L.Ed.2d 911 (1996). That is, they should review the lower court's findings of historical fact for clear error, but they were to review de novo whether the officer had reasonable suspicion. *Id.* at 700. The "*de novo*" standard was grounded in three principals.

First, the Supreme Court felt independent appellate review of the ultimate question would prevent varied results based on interpretations of similar facts by different trial judges. *Id.* at 697. Varied results would be inconsistent with the idea of a unitary system of law, which as a matter-ofcourse, would be unacceptable. *Id.*

Second, independent review would be necessary if appellate courts were to maintain control of, and to clarify, the pertinent legal principles. *Id.* at 698.

Finally, de novo review would tend to unify precedent and would come closer to providing law enforcement officers with a defined set of rules which, in most instances, would allow them to reach a correct determination beforehand. *Id.* Such review would likewise provide unitary guidance to litigants, lawyers, and trial courts. State v. Hajicek, 2001 WI 3, ¶18, 240 Wis.2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781.

The Supreme Court acknowledged that because the mosaic which is analyzed for a reasonable-suspicion inquiry is multi-faceted, one determination seldom would be a useful precedent for another. Ornelas, 517 U.S. at 698. But even where one case may not squarely control another one, the two decisions when viewed together may usefully add to the body of law on the subject. *Id.*

Implicit in the *Ornelas* Court's directions was that appellate courts should look to cases with similar fact patterns to guide their reasonable suspicion determinations. In fact, the *Ornelas* Court presented several examples where the facts in prior cases were remarkably like those in *Ornelas*. *Id. De* novo review would allow for a measure of consistency in the treatment of similar factual settings, rather than permitting different trial judges to reach inconsistent conclusions about same or similar facts. Mahaffey v. Page, 162 F.3d 481, 484 (7th Cir. 1998).

Wisconsin uses the Ornelas standard of review when reviewing reasonable suspicion cases. See e.g., State v. Powers, 2004 WI App 143, ¶6, 275 Wis.2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869. The court of appeals claimed to have used the Ornelas standard

when it reviewed Richey's case, but it never compared the facts of his case to any other case. It did not distinguish the Adams case Richey had analogized in his brief. In fact, it never even mentioned the *Adams* case.

Our "reasonable suspicion" cases contain some good examples of what the Ornelas court expected from appellate courts. For example, take State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, 241 Wis.2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106, which was an anonymous tip case. In deciding *Williams*, the supreme court compared the Williams facts to numerous other anonymous tip cases to explain why reasonable suspicion was present in Williams when it was not present in the other cases. *Id.* \P 24-47.

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