Filed 06-10-2022

Page 1 of 24

FILED 06-10-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP142-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHARLES W. RICHEY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MARATHON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE GREGORY J. STRASSER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

NICHOLAS S. DESANTIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1101447

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ISSUES PRESENTED		
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION		
TRODUCTION		
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 6		
ANDARD OF REVIEW		
ARGUMENT		
I. The stop of Richey's vehicle was supported by reasonable suspicion		
A. An officer may stop a vehicle so long as he or she can reasonably infer, based on the totality of the circumstances, that a person has committed a traffic violation		
B. The arresting officer had reasonable suspicion to believe Richey's vehicle was the one that committed the traffic violation five minutes earlier		
 II. The court of appeals had no duty to discuss the facts of similar cases, and in any event, Richey did not analyze the facts of any published cases in his court of appeals brief		
CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248 (1991).	
Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119 (2000).	

Kansas v. Glover, 140 S. Ct. 1183 (2020) 11, 16
Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690 (1996)
State v. Adams, No. 2018AP174-CR, 2019 WL 194763 (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 15, 2019)
State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990) 10, 16
<i>State v. Dumstrey</i> , 2016 WI 3, 366 Wis. 2d 64, 873 N.W.2d 502 9
State v. Genous, 2021 WI 50, 397 Wis. 2d 293, 961 N.W.2d 41 10, 11, 14
<i>State v. Guzy</i> , 139 Wis. 2d 663, 407 N.W.2d 548 11, 12, 13, 14
State v. Houghton, 2015 WI 79, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143 10, 12
State v. King, 2020 WI App 66, 394 Wis. 2d 431, 950 N.W.2d 891 21
State v. Pal, 2017 WI 44, 374 Wis. 2d 759, 893 N.W.2d 848 21
State v. Pickens, 2010 WI App 5, 323 Wis. 2d 226, 779 N.W.2d 1 12
State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634
<i>State v. Richey</i> , No. 2021AP142-CR, 2022 WL 454074 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 15, 2022)

State v. Rissley, 2012 WI App 112, 344 Wis. 2d 422,
824 N.W.2d 853 11, 14, 15, 16
State v. Tullberg, 2014 WI 134, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120
State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996) 10, 11
<i>State v. Young</i> , 2006 WI 98, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 10
<i>Terry v. Ohio</i> , 392 U.S. 1 (1968)
United States v. Bohman, 683 F.3d 861 (7th Cir. 2012) 16, 17
United States v. Johnson, 170 F.3d 708 (7th Cir. 1999) 16, 17
Constitutional Provisions
U.S. Const. amend. IV
Wis. Const. art. I, § 11
Statutes
Wis. Stat. § 346.57(2)
Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(3)(b)
Other Authorities
Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure, sec. 9.3(d) (2d ed. 1987) 11

ISSUES PRESENTED

Late at night in a small town, a sheriff's deputy told his fellow police officers to look out for a Harley-Davidson motorcycle, which he had seen speeding and driving erratically but could not apprehend. Five minutes later, a police officer stopped Charles W. Richey, who was driving a Harley-Davidson motorcycle in the area. Richey immediately showed signs of intoxication. He was arrested and pleaded no contest to OWI / 8th. He now argues that the initial stop was not supported by reasonable suspicion.

1. At the time of the stop, did the officer have reasonable suspicion to believe that Richey's vehicle was the same one that violated traffic laws five minutes earlier?

The circuit court answered: "Yes."

The court of appeals answered: "Yes."

This Court should affirm.

2. Did the Court of Appeals err by not sua sponte discussing the facts of other cases that were arguably similar to this one?

This Court should answer: "No."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

As with any case that warrants this Court's review, oral argument and publication are appropriate.

INTRODUCTION

A sheriff's deputy observed a Harley-Davidson motorcycle speeding and driving erratically late at night in a small town. Unable to detain the driver, he told the town's police officers to watch for the motorcycle. Five minutes later, Officer Alexis Meier stopped Richey's vehicle, a HarleyDavidson, and arrested him for operating while intoxicated. Richey filed a suppression motion asserting that the initial stop was not supported by reasonable suspicion. The arresting officer explained that traffic was very light at the time and that, in her experience, there were few motorcycles out at that time of year. The circuit court concluded that the officer had reasonable suspicion to stop Richey's vehicle. Following the denial of his motion, Richey pleaded no contest to OWI / 8th.

Richey appealed the denial of his suppression motion. The court of appeals examined the facts presented at the motion hearing and affirmed the circuit court's decision, concluding that the officer had reasonable suspicion to stop Richey. Richey now appeals. In addition to arguing that the stop was not supported by reasonable suspicion, he argues that the court of appeals erred by failing to distinguish factually similar cases.

Richey is not entitled to any relief. The facts within the officer's knowledge at the time of the stop—including the description of Richey's vehicle, the closeness in time and distance to the observed violation, and the relative scarcity of other motorcycles at that time of year and of night supported the officer's reasonable belief that Richey's vehicle was the one seen driving erratically and at a high rate of speed. Additionally, the court of appeals had no duty to distinguish factually similar cases, as Richey never argued in his court of appeals brief that any published cases were factually similar to this one.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At approximately 11:00 p.m. on April 28, 2018, a Marathon County sheriff's deputy told Everest Metro police officers to check the area for a Harley-Davidson motorcycle, which had been driving erratically and at high speeds in the village of Weston. (R. 2:2.) Five minutes later, Everest Metro police officer Alexis Meier located and stopped Richey, who was driving a Harley-Davidson within half a mile of where the speeding Harley-Davidson was last seen. (R. 2:2; 76:7.) Richey's speech was slurred, and Officer Meier detected an odor of intoxicants. (R. 2:3.) Richey was arrested and charged with Operating while Intoxicated / 8th Offense. (R. 2:1–2.)

Richey filed a suppression motion asserting that the initial stop of his motorcycle was not supported by a reasonable suspicion. (R. 16.) The circuit court held a hearing on Richey's motion on January 6, 2020. (R. 76:1, 3.) Everest Metro police officer Alexis Meier testified that at 11:00 p.m. on April 28, 2018, Deputy D'Aquisto of the Marathon County Sheriff's Office had broadcast over his radio that he was stopping for a disabled motorcycle in the Village of Weston. (R. 76:5.) He cleared the stop 15 seconds later with no explanation. (R. 76:19.) Shortly thereafter, he asked Everest Metro officers to check the area for a motorcycle he had observed driving erratically and at a high rate of speed in the same area. (R. 76:5.) The speeding motorcycle was a Harley-Davidson. (R. 76:6.)

Five minutes after Deputy D'Aquisto's broadcast, Officer Meier observed a motorcycle within half a mile of where Deputy D'Aquisto saw the motorcycle driving erratically. (R. 76:7.) She checked its registration and learned it was a Harley-Davidson. (R. 76:7.) She then stopped the motorcycle. (R. 76:7.) Richey was the driver.¹ (R. 76:13.)

Officer Meier explained that traffic at the time was "very light." (R. 76.6.) She had not observed any other motorcycles around that time. (R. 76:6.) She further explained that as it was still April, which is early in the motorcycle

¹ Richey does not argue that anything occurring after the initial stop was improper. He challenges only the initial stop. (Richey's Br. 5; R. 76:32–33.)

season, she had not seen many motorcycles out at that time of year. (R. 76:13.)

The circuit court denied Richey's motion to suppress. (R. 76:48.) The circuit court explained that reasonable suspicion turns on the totality of the circumstances and must be based on facts rather than a mere hunch. (R. 76:43.) The circuit court concluded that the facts within Officer Meier's knowledge at the time of the stop would warrant a reasonable police officer to suspect that Richey had been driving his motorcycle erratically. (R. 76:43, 48.) Some of the most important facts were Deputy D'Aquisto's broadcast; the fact that it was the very beginning of motorcycle season, late at night with very light traffic, at a time when "it's rare to see" motorcycle, but a Harley-Davidson. (R. 76:44–45.)

Following the denial of his suppression motion, Richey pleaded no contest to Operating While Intoxicated / 8th Offense. (R. 50:1; 57:1.) He was sentenced to four years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision. (R. 57:1.)

Richey then appealed the denial of his suppression motion. He argued that the initial stop of his motorcycle was not supported by reasonable suspicion. *State v. Richey*, No. 2021AP142-CR, 2022 WL 454074 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 15, 2022) (unpublished) (R-App. 101-03.) The court of appeals concluded that the facts within the officer's knowledge at the time of the stop—including the report of the speeding Harley-Davidson, the fact that Richey's Harley-Davidson was seen just five minutes later and less than a mile away, and the fact that it was late at night with light traffic at a time of year when few motorcycles are seen—gave rise to a reasonable suspicion. *Richey*, 2022 WL 454074, ¶¶ 7–10.

Richey filed a petition for review, which this Court granted.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a traffic stop is supported by reasonable suspicion is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 8, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. This is a mixed question of fact and law; this Court accepts the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless clearly erroneous, but independently determines whether those facts give rise to a reasonable suspicion. *Id.*; *Ornelas v. United States*, 517 U.S. 690, 696–97 (1996).

ARGUMENT

- I. The stop of Richey's vehicle was supported by reasonable suspicion.
 - A. An officer may stop a vehicle so long as he or she can reasonably infer, based on the totality of the circumstances, that a person has committed a traffic violation.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 11, of the Wisconsin Constitution protect against unreasonable searches and seizures.² U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. "The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness." *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶ 29, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120 (quoting *Florida v. Jimeno*, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991)). For this reason, the Fourth Amendment does not proscribe all state-initiated seizures; "it merely proscribes those which are unreasonable." *Id.* (quoting *Jimeno*, 500 U.S. at 250).

² Article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution is "substantively identical" to the federal Fourth Amendment and is interpreted "in accord with the Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Dumstrey*, 2016 WI 3, ¶ 14, 366 Wis. 2d 64, 873 N.W.2d 502.

Consistent with these protections, police may conduct a brief investigatory stop, also known as a *Terry*³ stop, if they have a "reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed, is being committed, or is about to be committed." *State v. Genous*, 2021 WI 50, ¶ 7, 397 Wis. 2d 293, 961 N.W.2d 41 (quoting *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 20, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729). This is equally true in the traffic stop context, where "the 'temporary and brief' detention of a traffic stop" requires only a reasonable suspicion that a traffic law has been violated. *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 30, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143 (citation omitted).

Reasonable suspicion means a police officer "possess[es] specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21. What constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common-sense, totality-of-the-circumstances test that asks, under all the facts and circumstances present, "[w]hat would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience[?]" State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996) (citing State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83-84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990)). Courts focus "not on isolated, independent facts, but on 'the whole picture' viewed together." Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 9 (citation omitted). Courts "consider everything observed by and known to the officer, and then determine whether a reasonable officer in that situation would reasonably suspect" a traffic violation had occurred. Id. ¶ 10.

"[P]olice officers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." *Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d at 84. "Suspicious conduct by its very nature is ambiguous, and the principal function of the investigative stop is to quickly resolve that ambiguity."

³ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d at 60. For this reason, "when a police officer observes lawful but suspicious conduct, if a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn, police officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry." *Id.*

It does not take much to give rise to a reasonable suspicion. Reasonable suspicion is "a low bar." *Genous*, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 8. "The reasonable suspicion inquiry 'falls considerably short' of 51% accuracy." *Kansas v. Glover*, 140 S. Ct. 1183, 1188 (2020) (citation omitted).

Courts use six non-exhaustive factors to determine whether reasonable suspicion exists to support a stop. These factors are:

(1) the particularity of the description of the offender or the vehicle in which he fled; (2) the size of the area in which the offender might be found, as indicated by such facts as the elapsed time since the crime occurred; (3) the number of persons about in that area; (4) the known or probable direction of the offender's flight; (5) observed activity by the particular person stopped; and (6) knowledge or suspicion that the person or vehicle stopped has been involved in other criminality of the type presently under investigation.

State v. Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 677, 407 N.W.2d 548 (quoting 3 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure, sec. 9.3(d), at 461 (2d ed. 1987)). These factors are helpful but non-exhaustive and not all of them must be present to justify a stop—"the focus is on the facts and circumstances present in each case." State v. Rissley, 2012 WI App 112, ¶ 15, 344 Wis. 2d 422, 824 N.W.2d 853. Courts examine these factors while keeping in mind that the bar for reasonable suspicion is "low." Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 8.

B. The arresting officer had reasonable suspicion to believe Richey's vehicle was the one that committed the traffic violation five minutes earlier.

Here, at the time Officer Meier stopped Richey, she had a reasonable suspicion to believe he had committed a traffic violation. First, Deputy D'Aquisto observed traffic violations by the driver of a Harley-Davidson motorcycle. (R. 76:5–6.) See, e.g., Wis. Stat. § 346.57(2) (requiring that "[n]o person shall drive a vehicle at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions"). There is no dispute that Deputy D'Aquisto could have performed an investigatory stop based on his reasonable suspicion of a noncriminal traffic violation. Houghton, 364 Wis. 2d 234, ¶ 30. Additionally, while Officer Meier did not actually observe the traffic violation herself, she was able to rely on Deputy D'Aquisto's observations. *State v. Pickens*, 2010 WI App 5, ¶¶ 11–13, 323 Wis. 2d 226, 779 N.W.2d 1 (discussing the collective knowledge rule). If Officer Meier reasonably suspected that Richey was the person Deputy D'Aquisto had observed violating traffic laws, then she was justified in stopping him. Richey does not argue otherwise.

The only question in this case is: did Officer Meier reasonably suspect that Richey's vehicle was the vehicle Deputy D'Aquisto observed driving erratically and at a high rate of speed five minutes earlier? An analysis of the *Guzy* factors shows that the answer is "yes."

The first and most important factor, which weighs heavily in the State's favor here, is the "particularity of the description of the offender or the vehicle in which he fled." Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d at 677. Deputy D'Aquisto's broadcast narrowed down the vehicle's description not only to a motorcycle, but to a specific make of motorcycle. (R. 76:6.) Officer Meier stopped Richey's vehicle because it fit a highly specific and particular description. *Guzy*, 139 Wis. 2d at 677.

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